#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)
)
)
)
)

CASE NO. 77,972

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit In and For Indian River County, Florida [Criminal Division].

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

MARGARET GOOD
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Rodney Tyrone Lowe
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 192356

###

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record needed to be supplemented several times. The following are a list of record references utilized in this brief:

Record received August 19, 1991 (11 vols.,pp 1-1884) =

"R"

- Received on September 27,1991 (list of persons for first appearances on July 11, 1990 and video of first appearances) (not referenced).
- Received on February 10, 1992 (computer print-out) (not referenced).
- Supplemental Record received on May 8, 1992 (3 vol) =

"SR"

Supplemental Record of voir dire and pre-trial hearings for both January 1991 and April 1991 trials (5 vols) =

"SR-VD"

Stipulated Statement to Supplement the Record received November 9, 1992 (2 vols, 1st vol. contains legible copies of R-1725-1773, which cannot be read in initial R and then 2nd volume is consecutively numbered from 1775-1945) =

"SS"

Received on March 19, 1993, Supplemental Record, transcript of Danny Butts deposition =

"SR-DB"

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rodney Lowe was indicted by the grand jury in Indian River County for the July 3, 1990, first degree murder and attempted robbery of Donna Burnell R-1326-27. The Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Lowe on July 11, 1990 R-1331.

On October 29, the Public Defender filed a motion for a protective order for the state witnesses, Dwayne and Vickie Blackmon, and a supporting affidavit from Mr. Blackmon, alleging that the state had been harassing them in an attempt to influence their testimony in this case R-1371-78. The following day the state filed a motion to disqualify the office of the public defender from representing Mr. Lowe because it was also representing Dwayne Blackmon, a state witness R-1380. These motions were both withdrawn after a special public defender, John H. Power, was appointed to represent Blackmon R-1403.

On January 1, 1991, appellant filed two motions, to disqualify the trial judge for bias and to transfer the case to a circuit judge because the assigned County Judge, Joe Wild, was improperly assigned as a circuit judge R-1448-54,1455-58. The motion to transfer was denied after a hearing R-36-50. The motion to disqualify was denied by written order R-1467.

On January 17, 1991, the state filed a motion in limine to preclude the admission of a spontaneous statement of Mrs. Burnell's child who witnessed the murder R-1650-51. After hearings, SR-VD-207-230,R-60-62,402, the motion was granted R-1792.

The Public Defender filed a motion to suppress the defendant's statements and confessions on January 15, 1991, which was to be

heard during a recess in the voir dire SR-200. However, the state filed another motion to disqualify the office of the Public Defender during jury selection, January 21, 1991, SR-187-200,R-1677-1681, on the grounds that the public defender had a conflict of interest because they represented the state witness, Dwayne Blackmon, on unrelated criminal charges from October 17, 1990 to November, 1, 1990, and Blackmon signed an affidavit on October 26 recanting some of his prior statements against Mr. Lowe in this case R-167<sup>1</sup>-81. The prosecutor also asked for disqualification of the public defenders because he had filed a bar complaint against them R-73. After a hearing, R-64-194, the court found a potential for conflict and public defender moved to withdraw R-181,189. The public defender was disqualified R-1688-92 and sole practitioner, James Long, was court appointed to represent appellant on January 24, 1991 R-194,1691.

On February 1, 1991, Mr. Long moved for appointment of cocounsel to help with the penalty phase, R-1718-1719, which was denied after a hearing R-210-216. At this hearing, Mr. Lowe personally complained that Mr. Long was not doing his best to

The state raised this issue only because the public defenders refused to tell the state whether they intended to use the affidavit to cross-examine Blackmon. If they would not use it, the state agreed to withdraw the motion. However, it they intended to use it, then the public defenders would be in a position to be a witness as to the manner in which the affidavit came to be made, the state alleged SR-VD-190-192. The court agreed, "I don't see how you could not use the affidavit if he takes the stand." SR-VD-196. At all times Assistant Public Defenders Barnes and Unruh insisted that they did not pressure Blackmon to sign any affidavit, that they advised Blackmon they represented Mr. Lowe and of a possible conflict and that Blackmon agreed to waive the conflict R-78-84, 119-170. When Unruh talked to Blackmon, Blackmon said Lorenzo Sailor admitted he (Sailor) had shot the victim R-136.

represent him and asked for Long to be removed, which was denied without a hearing R-216-220.

On March 22, 1991, a hearing was held on the motion to suppress Mr. Lowe's tape recorded statements made after he requested counsel R-222-397. The grounds for the motion were that Mr. Lowe's tape recorded statements were taken in violation of his right to counsel and to remain silent and that the officers ignored his request for counsel. A transcript of the taped recorded statements prepared by the state was provided for the court and counsel, R-229, and is part of the record on appeal SS-1776-1848.

The suppression hearing showed that on July 10, 1990, Lowe and his girlfriend, Patricia White, went to the Vero Beach Police Department to talk about a check case with Det. Divincenzo R-260. Investigator Kerby of the State Attorney's office and Det. Green of the Indian River Sheriff's Office learned that appellant was there and went to question him because he was a suspect in the Nu-Pak R-258-259. During the custodial interrogation which followed, the officers accused Lowe of the murder of Mrs. Burnell and assured Lowe this was his one chance to talk about the matter R-1796,1797.

Appellant repeatedly denied shooting or robbing Mrs. Burnell and then a asked for a lawyer:

RL: I want to talk to me a lawyer because I know I didn't do it. You know I didn't do it. I want to talk to me a lawyer man. SS-1803.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The tape recorded statements were electronically reported when played at the suppression hearing R-232-256,281-284. There are numerous times that the tape was inaudible to the transcriber (court reporter) so the transcript prepared by the state and used by the court and the parties, R-229, is much easier to read and to reference SS-1776-1848.

Kerby rejoined: "I'm not hard timing you. I'm just trying to give you a chance, but that's fine." SS-1803. Kerby then left the room and interviewed Patricia White.

During the interrogation of Mr. Lowe, White had been in a nearby interview room, where she overheard many parts of their conversation R-322. Detective Divincenzo, who was operating the recording system that monitored the room where appellant was being interviewed, heard Ms. White "crying and ...hysterical" so he moved her R-307.

When Kerby met with White she was obviously upset R-270. After she admitted that she had some knowledge of the robbery, they told her what evidence they had against Mr. Lowe R-269. This information upset her R-270. Kerby knew White was Mr. Lowe's girlfriend and it appeared to him that she may have been pregnant R-271-2.

White asked to speak to Lowe after Kerby told White the evidence he had against Lowe and she may have requested to speak to him before he told her of the evidence R-272. Kerby testified that Ms. White told him she had an idea that Lowe had done it R-276 and wanted to talk to him to "find out what happened" R 277, 279. Kerby knew there was a "good possibility" that she would ask him to confess R-279. ("I didn't tell her what to do, but I knew what she had on her mind" R-279-280.)

White consented to the secret taping of her conversation with Lowe, R-275-276, and extensively questioned Lowe about the robbery and confronted him with the evidence the police said they had against him SS-1805. Eventually, Lowe postulated that Dwayne

Blackmon had something to do with all of this, SS-1805, and White told Lowe that it would help him if he confessed SS-1807,1080.

Again and again, White pointed out the evidence the police had against Lowe SS-1806,1807,1808.

Lowe said that he did not do it and that Dwayne was setting him up. White responded by telling him not to lie, that she was going to find out and if he lied to her, "I am never gonna' visit you. I am never gonna fuckin' visit you. If you tell me, just tell me, Rodney." SS-1808.

Eventually, Lowe acknowledged that he had been the driver in the robbery of the Nu-Pak with Dwayne and Lorenzo Sailor, that he had picked them up that morning. Then Lorenzo, who had Lowe's gun, and Dwayne committed the robbery while Lowe waited in the car. Afterwards, he took them home before he came to give her the car and returned to work SS-1810-11.

Lowe kept pressuring Lowe to tell the police SS-1812, 1813. When Lowe said he had no reason to tell unless White guaranteed to stand by him, she said she would love him if he told the truth SS-1813.

As Lowe continued to resist White's advice to tell the police, White said that if he loved her, he would tell. She would write him and send him money if he would tell SS-1815. He then agreed to tell them "because I love you to death." SS-1815. White assured Lowe she loved him and would wait for him, that she would keep the faith and would get to love him SS-1815.

Kerby opened the door and said, "Okay, that's as long as I can give you. Sorry." SS-1816. Lowe said to Kerby: "Hey, come

inside, man." SS-1816. Kerby then directed appellant to sit down and White to leave. Appellant said: "Well, I want to..." and Kerby responded, "I'll come talk to you." SS-1816. Lowe said that he wanted White to stay while he talked to Kerby. Kerby said that she could but was not to say anything SS-1816. Green and Kerby entered the room and told White and appellant where to sit. Then the following occurred:

SK: All right, you remember what we talked about your rights and your...

RL: Yeah.

SK: ...you...you telling me that you want to talk to me?

RL: Yeah, I want to tell you. Yeah, yeah, yeah.

SK: Okay, we just have to understand that, RODNEY. Because you asked for an attorney before and I. I have to tell you that again. Okay? But I have to do that or I can't talk to you.

RL: So you talk, man.

CG: Can we have a pad and pen?

SK: All right, while we're waiting on him, all right, like I said, this is a formality I've got to do. Do you remember me or Detective Green reading you your rights. That you have the right to an attorney and that you didn't have to talk to us. Do you recall that?

RL: Yes, I recall.

SK: Are you telling me now, when we were in here before, you told me that you wanted a lawyer, all right? Is that right?

RL: Yeah.

SK: Are you telling me now that you want to talk to me without a lawyer present?

RL: How long will it take to get one here?

SK: I have no idea.

RL: Don't worry about it.

SK: No, I have to worry about it. If you're telling me you want to do it without a lawyer, I'll talk to you.

RL: I'll go without a lawyer.

SK: Is that what you want to do?

RL: It's what I want to do.

SK: Okay. I can get you a lawyer if that's what you want.

RL: Huh uh.

SK: But you have to tell me that's the way it is. Because I've got to have you tell me.

RL: That's the way it is. I do not want a lawyer at present while I'm talking to you.

SS-1817-1818.

Lowe then confessed to felony-murder involvement in the robbery of Mrs. Burnell by driving Dwayne and Lorenzo to the Nu-Pak, while Lorenzo went inside and shot the clerk SS-1818-1842. After further discussion, Kerby told White that she had to leave SS-1847. The police continued to question Lowe, expressing doubts about his felony-murder story. The interrogation ended when Lowe again requested a lawyer SS-1848.

Appellant's motion to suppress was denied R-1794-1801. His renewed motion to suppress before the tapes were played for the jury was denied R-684.

Appellant was convicted by the jury as charged R-1807-08. The jury recommended death R-1833. The court sentenced appellant to death finding two aggravating circumstances (prior conviction of

a violent felony and that the murder was committed in the course of an attempted robbery), and rejecting as mitigating all of the mitigation evidence presented R-1851-56 (Appendix-12-17).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### GUILT PHASE

On July 3, 1990 about 10 a.m., Steven Leudtke stopped at the Nu-Pak convenience store in Sebastian R 547. Leudtke saw an unoccupied late model white car, which he thought was a Taurus, parked by the side driveway R 554-5. Leudtke saw a black man between 5'8" and 10" tall, 150-165 lbs., with light colored shirt and lighter pants, a dark cap, and a beard come out and walk quickly towards the white car<sup>3</sup> R-556-8. Leudtke's composite sketch showed a man with a full beard<sup>4</sup> R-562. Leudtke did not identify Mr. Lowe at trial as the man he saw, R-559-6<sup>5</sup> nor did he make any identification at a July 10 lineup R-565.

After Leudtke entered the store, he heard a child crying and noticed the clerk, Donna Burnell, lying on the floor behind the counter R-551. He called 911; except for Burnell's child, he saw

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State witness Patty White, Mr. Lowe's girlfriend in July 1990, testified Lowe usually wore dark brown pants and a tan shirt to work, but was not sure if he was so dressed on July 3 R-861-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> White also testified that Lowe never had a beard during this period, but Lorenzo Sailor did R-876. During a police recorded interrogation of appellant on July 10, 1990, where White was also present, White observed that Sailor looked like Mr. Lowe R-780.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Leudtke testified that on July 3 he thought the man he saw looked familiar and that he had been to Gator Lumber, Lowe's workplace, before R-558. However, he also described the clothes as light colored shirt with pants lighter than the shirt and did not notice any Gator Lumber logo on the shirt of the man he saw R-573. Mr. Lowe's usual work clothes were dark brown pants and a tan shirt R-861; State exhibits 17 & 18, introduced at R-506.

nobody else in the store R-553.

Mrs. Burnell was still alive when Sebastian police sergeant Eugene Ewert arrived there at 10:20 a.m. R-537. Bill Lawrence, an emergency medical technician, was dispatched to the store at 10:19 a.m. and arrived at 10:24. Burnell's breathing was labored, and she went into full cardiac arrest within a minute of his arrival R-586. Lawrence tried to keep her alive en route to the hospital R-589. Doctor Nasr confirmed that Burnell was probably dead on arrival at the Indian River Memorial Hospital where he tried to treat her without success R-606-7.

Debra Brook was Donna Burnell's close friend; she stopped at the Nu-Pak store when she saw the fire department arrive R-578-9. Mrs. Burnell's child, Danny Butts, was there and jumped into Mrs. Brooks arms R-579.

The medical examiner, Doctor Hobin, testified Burnell had been shot in the chest, top of her head, and upper left face. Any of these shots could have been fatal R-615,626. Hobin opined the gun had been a few inches away when fired at Burnell's chest and face; he could not determine the gun's distance when fired at her head top<sup>6</sup> R-617-8,620. Burnell also suffered a fresh blunt trauma injury to her left index finger, which could have been caused by the cash drawer or somebody stepping on it R-622,631.

Gary Rathman, a technician with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, testified that two of the bullets from Burnell's body

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Gary Rathman, a Florida Department of Law Enforcement technician also opined that the chest wound was caused by a gun within a foot but not pressing against Donna Burnell R-975-6.

and the bullet from the store were fired from the .32 revolver, in evidence as State exhibit 118 R-969.

At the Nu-Pak on July 3, 1990, Indian River County Sheriff Investigator Ronald Sinclair found and collected a cold, wet 7-Up can on the microwave and a hamburger in its wrapper in that oven R-465; State exhibit 2n. Deborah Fisher, a fingerprint examiner for F.D.L.E. developed prints from this wrapper R-990. Two of them matched Mr. Lowe's prints R-981-2,991-2. Other partial prints on the hamburger wrapper were not identifiable R-995.

A cash register alarm was ringing; the cash drawer had a dent which appeared to be caused by a bullet R-466-7. Sinclair found a bullet on a cabinet, an apparent ricochet off the register and the floor R-469. The cash register tapes collected by Sinclair showed the last purchase was for a cake at 10:07 a.m. R-488-90. The general manager, Mahesh Desai, also testified the last record of a purchase was for a cake at 10:07 a.m. R-596. Desai testified the hamburgers were kept in the front of the cooler; they were delivered to the store once a week R-602-3. No money was missing from the store R-594.

Patricia White, age 18, was Mr. Lowe's pregnant girlfriend in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Sinclair had collected the three bullets from the medical examiner after the autopsy and sent them and the bullet from the store to the lab R-492. He also sent the .32 revolver obtained by Detective Green from Dwayne Blackmon to the lab R-498.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dwayne Blackmon gave this revolver to Detective Green as detailed below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Sergeant Ewert also noticed the register alarm, soda can, hamburger, and dent on the cash drawer when he entered the store; he did not disturb these items R-543-4. A Florida Department of Law Enforcement technician later opined the dent was consistent with a bullet striking the drawer R-971-2.

July 1990 R-852. (After Mr. Lowe was arrested, the Blackmons and Lorenzo Sailor moved in with her, and she gave Lowe's possessions to Dwayne Blackmon for cocaine R-880,909). White owned a white Mercury Topaz and Mr. Lowe a blue Oldsmobile R-854. White testified Mr. Lowe drove her white car to work on the morning of July 3 and returned home between 10 and 11 a.m.; within 5 minutes she drove him back to work R-856. She then drove to the Blackmon's house to go shopping with Vickie Blackmon; Dwayne looked as though he had just awakened and said he had a sore throat. She did not see Lorenzo Sailor, Dwayne's cousin who lived with the Blackmons. While returning home with Vickie, White was stopped by Patrolman Joseph Brown at 11:10 a.m. Officer Brown said he stopped them because her white car matching the BOLO of the car spotted in the Nu-Pak parking lot. Patty and another white woman and a child were in the car, Brown testified R-889. White got a summons for driving while license suspended or revoked R-858.

In July, 1990, Dwayne Blackmon was friends with Mr. Lowe, however, they had an argument in the week between the robbery and Lowe's arrest R-939. Blackmon had made his living selling crack cocaine and had been convicted of nine felonies or crimes involving dishonesty R-918.

On July 10, Dwayne Blackmon tried to cash a bad check written on Patty White's account at a grocery, and the police were called R-941,902-3. During questioning on that offense, the police

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Dordelman, Lowe's and White's roommate, confirmed that the Blackmons and Sailor would visit White and Lowe frequently before Lowe's arrest R-638. The Blackmons and Sailor moved in without Dordelman's permission and left about a week later when he became angry at Dwayne Blackmon R-640.

indicated they thought Blackmon could connect Mr. Lowe to the Nu-Pak crime R-955-6. Blackmon then gave Detective Green a .32 revolver, which was the gun used to kill Mrs. Burnell R-831. Blackmon and his wife Vickie testified Dwayne originally acquired this gun by trading cocaine for it; he then gave the gun to Mr. Lowe around Lowe's birthday on June 2, 1990 R-919,893.

Patty White testified that she saw Mr. Lowe fire this gun several times R-859. She last saw him with it on July 2 when Lowe put it under her car seat because a friend of hers was being beaten by her boyfriend and White was involved. White was stopped by police on July 3 after Lowe left her the white car and she took him back to work. She could not find the gun in her car then.

Blackmon, age 19, admitted that he, Lowe, and his cousin, Lorenzo Sailor, (who had recently been released from prison R-922), planned on robbing the Nu-Pak market together and twice attempted to rob it on the weekend before July 3 R-922-929. Blackmon admitted he wanted to share in the proceeds but said the robbery was Lowe's idea because he needed money for rent R-925. Patty White also testified that Mr. Lowe told her a week before July 3 that he, Blackmon, and Sailor were planning a robbery; Lowe never told White he planned to do any robbery on his own R-874-5. White said she and Mr. Lowe were having money problems then. They borrowed the rent money from Lowe's parents on July 4.12 R-867-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Mr. Lowe's roommate, Carl Dordelman, also testified he saw Lowe with a .32 caliber revolver two days before Burnell was shot, although Dordelman did not know who owned the gun R-636.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Mary Burke, the comptroller at Mr. Lowe's job, testified Mr. Lowe had asked for advances on his pay at this time R-669.

On Friday, June 29, Blackmon testified that he went with Lowe to Wabasso Park and watched Lowe shoot the .32 in a trash can R-921. The bullets recovered there were too damaged to identify but were fired by the same type of gun as State's Exhibit 11 R-977.

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