# AUG 19 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODNEY TYRONE LOWE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 77,972

By\_

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299 (407) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Appellant's motion to suppress was properly denied. Patty White was not an agent of the State. Moreover, because Appellant initiated further conversation with the police and voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived his previously invoked right to counsel, his statements were admissible against him. If their admission was error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue II - The admission of Appellant's initial taped statement to the police did not constitute fundamental error. Defense counsel moved before trial to exclude portions of the tape, which the State agreed to redact. Appellant made no other objections to the tape. If the tape's admission was error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue III - Appellant failed to raise a prejudice claim below to the contents of a box of personal belongings admitted into evidence; thus, he cannot make it now for the first time on appeal. Appellant's relevancy objection, however, was properly overruled, since the box was relevant to show that a pair of sunglasses and a newspaper article on the murder belonged exclusively to Appellant. If it was erroneously admitted, however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue IV - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defense counsel's motion for co-counsel under the circumstances of this case.

Issue V - Because Appellant refused to provide specific facts underlying his motion for substitution of counsel, and

because his generalized complaints indicated a lack of trust rather proof of ineffectiveness, no <u>Nelson</u> inquiry was required. Regardless, the trial court conducted an inquiry and properly determined that Appellant's complaints did not support the withdrawal of counsel. To the extent the trial court's inquiry was inadequate, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where Appellant accepted defense counsel and later expressed his satisfaction with his representation.

Issue VI - The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to recuse since Appellant's allegations would not place a reasonably prudent person in fear of not receiving a fair and impartial trial.

Issue VII - While maintaining county court duties, Judge Wild was temporarily assigned to circuit court while one circuit court judge recuperated from a heart attack and the other judge served compulsory military duty. Under these circumstances, Judge Wild's assignments were proper, and Appellant's motion to transfer was justifiably denied.

Issue VIII - The State's special requested instruction has previously been approved by this Court and others. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving it. Even if it were error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue IX - Appellant failed to properly preserve for review any of the allegedly erroneous comments made by the State during its guilt-phase closing argument. Regardless, the comments were either fair comments on the evidence or were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, no mistrial was warranted.

- 21 -

Issue X - Because Appellant failed to seek admission during the trial of Danny Butts' hearsay statements to Debra Brook, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. Nevertheless, any error in the trial court's exclusion of her testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XI - The instructions as read adequately channeled the jury's discretion in finding and weighing applicable aggravating factors. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's requested penalty-phase jury instruction.

Issue XII - Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the evidence supported jury instructions on HAC and CCP. Even if it did not, however, any error in so instructing the jury was harmless since it must be presumed that the jury did not use them in determining their recommendation where there was no evidence to support them.

Issue XIII - Appellant failed to object to any of the allegedly erroneous remarks made by the prosecutor during his penalty-phase closing argument. Even if he had, however, they would have properly been overruled since the State's comments were fair comments on the evidence. Even were they not, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XIV - The circumstances underlying a prior violent felony conviction can be considered in assessing the weight to be given this aggravating factor. Thus, the trial court did not improperly consider evidence that Appellant was armed during a previous robbery even though he pled to robbery without a weapon.

Issue XV - This Court has previously held that the details of a prior violent felony conviction are admissible in the penalty phase. Even if erroneously admitted, however, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

- 22 -

Issue XVI - The trial court did not err in failing to sua sponte inquire into Appellant's decisions not to call certain witnesses on his behalf during the penalty-phase proceeding. This Court has never required such an inquiry and should not do so now.

Issue XVII - The sentencing order makes clear that all of Appellant's evidence in mitigation was considered by the trial court. None of it, however, was considered to be sufficient to outweigh the evidence in mitigation. The record supports such a finding.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS (Restated).

Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a Motion to Suppress Statements, claiming that (1) he never validly waived his rights initially, (2) once he asked for an attorney, one was not provided, and instead his girlfriend was purposefully placed in his presence to elicit incriminating statements, and (3) all statements thereafter were involuntarily made. (R 1620-24). At the hearing on the motion, defense counsel abandoned his claim that there was no valid waiver of rights initially: "[J]ust before [his request for an attorney] we are not objecting to that part of the statement because he did agree to talk to the police." (T 226). He maintained, however, that all statements made after his request for counsel were inadmissible because they were involuntarily made: Investigator Kerby made coercive remarks after Appellant requested an attorney and then sent in Patty White as an agent of the State to elicit incriminating remarks and to coerce Appellant to talk to the police, which he did after being coerced to waive his previously invoked right to counsel. (T 340-57).

The State responded that all questioning ceased once Appellant requested an attorney, and Investigator Kerby left the room. Patty White, who had overheard the interview with Appellant wherein the officers had confronted Appellant with the evidence against him, pleaded with Kerby and Green to let her talk to Appellant. Although they hoped Appellant would confess to her, they did not send her in as an agent of the State to coerce a confession. When Patty and Appellant's conversation was over, Kerby opened the door to let Patty out and Appellant initiated further conversation. Kerby made sure, however, that Appellant did not want an attorney. Because his waiver was voluntary and intelligent, his subsequent statements were admissible. (T 357-66).

After a lengthy discussion with the parties, the trial court took the motion under advisement (T 366-98), but entered a written order two days later. (R 1794-1801). Ultimately, the trial court denied the motion to suppress, finding (1) that Patty White was not acting as an agent of the State when she spoke to Appellant about the murder after he had invoked his right to counsel, (2) that Appellant thereafter initiated further discussions with the police, (3) that Appellant freely and voluntarily waived his previously asserted right to counsel, and (4) that Appellant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the interview room at the police department. (R 1794-1801).

In this appeal, Appellant renews his claim that his statements made to Patty White and Investigator Kerby after his request for counsel were the result of coercion and thus involuntary. As a result, he asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to suppress. Brief of Appellant at 34-44. The State disagrees.

When Appellant requested an attorney during the initial interview with Investigator Kerby, the interrogation immediately ceased as required, and Kerby left the room. His intention at

that point was to go on to something else: "My intention at that point in time was that I was leaving the room and that was the end of my interview with him. . . . I went on to something else. I went on to interview Patty White at that point." (T 268). Patty White, who was in an interview room across the hall, was upset and pleaded with Kerby and Green to let her talk to She had suspicions before she got there that Appellant. Appellant was involved in the murder, but after overhearing much of the interrogation of Appellant, her suspicions were piqued. She wanted to know for herself whether Appellant was involved. Before allowing her to talk to Appellant, however, Kerby and Green interviewed her as a suspect in the murder. During this interview, they discussed the evidence against Appellant. Then, when they finished questioning her, they allowed her time to talk to Appellant. When asked whether he thought Patty was going to try to get Appellant to confirm his involvement to her, Investigator Kerby stated, "That was a good possibility that she was gonna do that. I -- at that point I didn't -- I honestly didn't know what she was gonna do. I didn't tell her what to do, but I knew what she had on her mind. . . . For all I knew at that point she could have gone in there and -- and done anything." (T 279-80). As a result, they decided to tape the conversation and procured her consent to do so.

In asserting that Patty White became a state agent who then coerced him into making incriminating statements, Appellant focuses on the fact that the police told Patty of the details of their investigation before allowing her to go in and then insisted on tape recording their conversation without informing

- 26 -

him of such. Neither fact, however, constitutes the type of overreaching condemned by <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) and <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u>, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). As noted previously, Patty already suspected that Appellant was involved, and only by accident overheard Kerby and Green confront Appellant with the evidence against him. Regardless, Investigator Kerby testified that they related the evidence against Appellant to Patty during their interview of her as a suspect in the murder,<sup>4</sup> not because she was about to talk to Appellant. (T 267-72). Thus, contrary to Appellant's assertion, Kerby and Green did not "instigate[] an already upset White to question Lowe about the crime by telling her of the details of their investigation." Brief of Appellant at 36.

As for Kerby and Green's decision to tape record the conversation, this fact is of no import. There is no question that Patty would be able to testify to any statements made to her by Appellant, regardless of whether or not they were tape-recorded. The fact that they were does not make her an agent of the State.<sup>5</sup> Moreover, contrary to Appellant's assertion, the police did not foster an expectation of privacy between Appellant and Patty. Appellant was in an interrogation room at the police station, which ordinarily does not engender a reasonable expectation of privacy. See State v. Calhoun, 479 So.2d 214

<sup>•</sup> Patty's car was used in the murder, and she gave the murder weapon to Vickie Blackmon to hold for Appellant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Had the conversation not been recorded, defense counsel undoubtedly would have used that fact to discredit the investigative skills of the police department, and would have been better able to impeach Patty's testimony regarding the accuracy of her recollection of the conversation.

(Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Unlike in <u>Calhoun</u>, however, which is cited to by Appellant, Appellant did not ask to speak to Patty privately and was not led to believe that their conversation was secure and private.

Appellant cites to several cases to support his position that Patty was a de facto agent of the State, but those cases are easily distinguishable. There, either the police, the victim, or a codefendant used threats and/or promises to exact a confession. Peoples v. State, 612 So.2d 555 (Fla. See, e.g., 1992) (codefendant agreed to obtain incriminating information against defendant); Walls v. State, 580 So.2d 135 (Fla. 1991) (correctional officer purposefully engaged the defendant in allegedly confidential conversations in order elicit to incriminating information); Brewer v. State, 386 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1980) (police threatened defendant with death penalty, indicated they had ability to effect leniency, and suggested that defendant would not be given fair trial unless he confessed); State v. Kettering, 483 So.2d 97 (Fla. 5th DCA) (defendant was told by employer that if he confessed to stealing merchandise the police would not be contacted), rev. denied, 494 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 1986); Howard v. State, 515 So.2d 430 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (victim surprised defendant and, at gunpoint, exacted a confession even though codefendant claimed he committed burglary by himself and only got defendant to retrieve stolen goods with him). But see Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958) (pre-Miranda case wherein court found confessions admissible even though defendant claimed he was threatened with lynching if he did not confess). Here, on the other hand, there was no undue coercion. Patty

- 28 -

White was not conducting the functional equivalent of police interrogation, nor was she making threats or promises which affected the outcome of Appellant's case. The fact that she would not come see him or remain loyal to him unless he told the police the truth is not the type of coercive conduct for which the exclusionary rule was created.

As the trial court noted in its written order, this case is most closely controlled by <u>Arizona v. Mauro</u>, 481 U.S. 520 (1987). In <u>Mauro</u>, the defendant invoked his right to counsel when questioned at the police station regarding the murder of his son. His wife, who was being questioned in another room, asked to speak with the defendant. For security reasons, an officer accompanied her with a tape recorder into the office in which the defendant was being questioned. Statements made to her by her husband were used at trial to rebut the defendant's defense of insanity.

On appeal, the Supreme Court found "no evidence that the officers sent Mrs. Mauro in to see her husband for the purpose of eliciting incriminating statements." <u>Id.</u> at 528. In other words, the decision to allow the defendant's wife to see him did not constitute "the kind of psychological ploy that properly could be treated as the functional equivalent of interrogation." <u>Id.</u> at 527. The Court doubted "that a suspect, told by officers that his wife will be allowed to speak to him, would feel that he was being coerced to incriminate himself in any way." <u>Id.</u> at 528. Although the officers in <u>Mauro</u>, like the officers here, believed there was a possibility that the defendant would make incriminating statements to his wife, the Court found that

"[0]fficers do not interrogate a suspect simply by hoping that he will incriminate himself." <u>Id.</u> at 528-29. Moreover, the Supreme Court cautioned that "[p]olice departments need not adopt inflexible rules barring suspects from speaking with their spouses, nor must they ignore legitimate security concerns by allowing spouses to meet in private." <u>Id.</u> at 530.

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